IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT DUBOSE

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-01170-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Robert Dubose, Appellant
- 3. Honorable Eddie H. Bowen, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Robert G. Evans, Circuit Court Judge

Respectfully Submitted,

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

BY:

Reniamia A Suber

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECLINING TO SUSTAIN
APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE
MISCONDUCT OF A JUROR.

ISSUE NO. 2
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE RACE
NEUTRAL REASONS GIVEN BY THE STATE AFTER A BATSON
OBJECTION REGARDING SIX BLACK JURORS.

ISSUE NO. 3
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S
MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS
AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Jasper County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crimes of Count I - Sexual gratification, Count II - Sexual gratification, Count III - Sexual Gratification. Dubose was sentenced by the Court to serve a term of ten (10) years in the custody of the Department of Corrections for each count for a total of thirty (30) years, following a jury trial on February 5, 2008, Honorable Robert G, Evans, presiding. Robert Dubose is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

On or about March 22, 2006, Lyrita Moffitt-Parker, received a report on alleged sexual abuse. Tr. 81. The sexual abuse involved the children of Robert and Mary Dubose. Parker was working with the Department of Human Services in Jasper County. Tr. 79-80. Upon hearing a report of alleged sexual abuse, Parker went to the school and talked with the children about the abuse. Tr. 81.

Parker, from the conversations with the children, determined that the children warranted protection and possible removal of the children from the home. Tr. 84. Parker contacted the young court judge, and the judge gave her an order to remove the children from their home. *Id.*

The next day, the Judge scheduled a shelter hearing. *Id.* At the shelter hearing it was determined that the children were to remain in the Department of Human Services custody until the allegations could be further investigated. *Id.* After the shelter hearing,

Parker scheduled appointments for the children at the South Mississippi Children's Advocacy Center (CAC) and with a pediatrician. *Id.*

The appointment with the CAC was approximately one (1) week later on March 29, 2006. *Id.* The appointment with the pediatrician was approximately a week later, April 5, 2006. *Id.* All three (3) children were taken to the CAC for a forensic interview and to the pediatrician for a medical examination. Tr. 84-85.

A court hearing with the youth court was scheduled on or about April 27, 2006, to determine if the children had been abused or neglected. Tr. 85. The court determined that the children were found to be abused, neglected. *Id.* The Department of Human Services retained custody of the children. *Id.* The court issued a no contact order on Robert Dubose to stay away from the children. *Id.* Parker then turned all of her information that she gathered as a result of the investigation over to law enforcement. *Id.*

According to the testimony of Chante Dubose, one night Robert Dubose allegedly came to her room and asked did she want to have fun. Tr. 120. Chante said no and he went back to his room. *Id.* Dubose then came back and asked Chante to take off all of her clothes, and when Chante questioned him, he said never mind. *Id.* Dubose then asked Chante to come to his room and to get up into bed. *Id.* Chante got into bed and then Dubose told her to take off her underclothes. *Id.* Dubose allegedly put his hands on her privates, and told her to put her leg on top of his leg. *Id.* Chante claimed that she was told to hold Dubose's penis. *Id.* Chante continued to state that claimed that Dubose had her

touch his private parts, penis. Tr. 121. Chante did state that Dubose only asked her to take off her clothes one time. Tr. 131.

On cross-examination Chante stated that she saw Dubose and Robert Dubose, Jr. (Anthony) in a bedroom on two (2) separate incidents. Tr. 124. Once in Dubose's bedroom and once in Anthony's bedroom. *Id.* Chante contended that she saw Anthony on top of Dubose. Tr. 127.

Chante testified that she told Lakeisha Dubose about the incident between her and Dubose. Tr. 133. She also told Lakeisha about both times she saw Dubose and Anthony. *Id.* Chante claims to have told Lakeisha everything that she had witnessed. *Id.* Chante also asserts that she told Mary Dubose about the incident between her and Dubose. Tr. 134.

Lakeisha testified that Dubose touched her breast and private parts. Tr. 139. She claimed that Dubose called her to his bedroom and she went to his bedroom. *Id.* When she got into the bedroom, Dubose touched her breast and front part of her private area. Tr. 140.

Lakeisha also alleged that she saw Dubose laying on top of Anthony in the bedroom. *Id.* However on cross-examination, when asked whether Dubose was doing anything to Anthony or did she just see Dubose on top of Anthony, LaKeisha stated that she just saw Dubose on top of Anthony. Tr. 142. Lakeisha also declared that Chante was in the room when see saw Dubose and Anthony in the bedroom. *Id.* Lakeisha further testified that Chante never told her about anything that she saw in the bedroom. Tr. 144.

Anthony Dubose¹ who was eight (8) years old at trial and six (6) years old at the alleged incident told the pediatrician that Dubose molested and abused him. Tr. 150-52. Anthony claimed that Dubose put his hands on his butt and put his private parts in his butt. Tr. 152-53. Anthony continued to state that Dubose kissed him on the lips, touched his private parts, made him put his private part in Dubose's butt, and Dubose would stick his hand in Anthony's butt. Tr. 153.

Anthony asserted that Dubose would touch Anthony's private parts with his mouth. Tr. 154. Anthony also would have to put his mouth on Dubose's private parts. *Id.* The incidents would occur in both Anthony's and Dubose's room. *Id.* Anthony, however maintained that this incident not only happened once, but on cross stated that it happened well over a hundred (100) times. Tr. 154-56.

Anthony further testified on cross that he saw Dubose feeling on Chante and put Chante's private parts in his mouth. Tr. 156. Anthony stated that he witnessed this in Chante's room by looking through the door. Tr. 157. Anthony expressed that he saw Dubose kiss Lakeisha and put his private part in her butt. *Id.* He witnessed this incident in Dubose's room by peaking through the curtain. Tr. 158.

Mary Dubose, the wife of Dubose, testified the children were adopted in 2003. Tr. 172. She strongly affirmed that she did not know of any sexual abuse. Tr. 173. She testified that Chante did not tell her that Dubose was sexually abusing her. *Id.* She continued to state that Chante did not tell her that Dubose was sexually abusing Anthony

¹Anthony Dubose's name is Robert Dubose, Jr. but is called Anthony.

or Lakeisha. *Id.* Mary further claimed that Lakeisha did not tell her that Dubose was sexually abusing the children and neither did Anthony. *Id.*

Mary never observed any inappropriate situations with the children and Dubose.

Id. Mary further testified that she never left the house and Dubose and the kids were there. Tr. 179. Whenever she left, she took the kids with her. Id.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court improperly denied the Appellant's motion for a new trial. Juror Michael E. Thigpen, who was juror number 8 and who sat on the jury of the trial of the Appellant, Robert Dubose, failed to disclose to the Court during voir dire that he knew Mary Dubose, Robert Dubose's wife. C.P. 195, R.E. 26. Thigpen failed to also disclose that he was related to Mary Dubose's ex-husband, Quillie McDonald. *Id*.

The questions posed to the petit jury regarding Mary Dubose and Yolander Streeter were relevant to the voir dire examination, they were unambiguous, and Thigpen had substantial knowledge of the information sought in the questions. The Appellant would further assert that he was prejudiced in selecting the jury as a result of Thigpen's failure to respond to these questions. The Appellant asks that this Court reverse and remand Dubose's conviction for a new trial.

The State also used all six (6) peremptory challenges on six (6) African American jurors. Tr. 50-57. Judges are afforded great deference in their Batson rulings, as the Mississippi Supreme Court stated in Flowers, neither prosecutors nor defense counsel should be allowed to manipulate *Batson* to the point where voir dire is simply an exercise

in finding race neutral reasons. *Flowers*, 947 So.2d at 937. The prosecution clearly engaged in disparate treatment and the reasons for striking jurors were insufficient.

The verdicts were also against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The verdicts of guilty for gratification of lust were predicated upon the testimony of the three alleged victims who testified. Other than the statements made by the three young children, no evidence was present to show that there was in fact any sexual contact between them and Dubose. The testimony of the three (3) children was unreliable and conflicting. The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and this was reversible error. Robert Dubose is entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECLINING TO SUSTAIN APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE MISCONDUCT OF A JUROR.

Juror Michael E. Thigpen, who was juror number 8 and who sat on the jury of the trial of the Appellant, Robert Dubose, failed to disclose to the Court during voir dire that he knew Mary Dubose, Robert Dubose's wife. C.P. 195, R.E. 26. Thigpen failed to also disclose that he was related to Mary Dubose's ex-husband, Quillie McDonald. *Id.* Upon information and belief, Thigpen is the cousin of Quillie McDonald, and yet he failed to disclose this information when asked if he knew Mary Dubose, Robert Dubose's wife, or was otherwise related to her or her ex-husband. C.P. 196, R.E. 27.

Furthermore, Yolander Streeter, daughter of Mary Dubose and Quillie McDonald, confronted Thigpen at the courthouse, after the voir dire of the petit jury. *Id.* Streeter asked him why he failed to disclose his relation to Quillie McDonald, to which it is believed that Thigpen simply smiled in response. *Id.*

Streeter did not disclose this information to counsel for the Appellant, and in fact refused to disclose the name of Thigpen to Mary Dubose when asked by Mary Dubose. *Id.* Streeter indicated that she did not want to get Thigpen in trouble for failing to disclose his relation to Quillie McDonald. *Id.* Mary Dubose did not recognize Thigpen as McDonald's cousin at the trial, and only learned of his identity on February 27 or 28, 2008. *Id.* Trial counsel for the Appellant was informed of these events on February 28, 2008. *Id.*

Mississippi law guarantees the right of either party in a case to probe the prejudices of prospective jurors and investigate their thoughts on matters directly related to the issues to be tried. *West v. State*, 553 So.2d 8 (Miss. 1989). Such questions enable parties to conscientiously challenge prospective jurors for cause and provide valuable clues for the exercise of peremptory challenges. *Harris v. State*, 532 So.2d 606 (Miss. 1988). By Thigpen failing to disclose his relation to the Appellant's wife's exhusband, the Appellant was denied the opportunity to question Thigpen about any bias or prejudice he may have against either the Appellant or the Appellant's wife. C.P. 196, R.E. 27. Therefore, the Appellant was denied a fair and impartial jury. *Id*.

The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Odom v. State*, 355 So.2d 1381 (Miss. 1978) and *Jones v. State*, 133 Miss. 684, 98 So. 150 (1923), "held that counsel must have latitude in searching the minds and consciences of jurors in order to be able to exercise their peremptory challenges intelligently." "Although [*Jones*] dealt with the denial of the statutory right of a defendant to question prospective jurors directly and not have to propound questions through the presiding judge, the principle announced is applicable in the case sub judice." *Odom*, 355 So.2d at 1383. *See Jones v. State*, 133 Miss. 684, 98 So. 150 (1923). "The failure of a juror to respond to a relevant, direct, and unambiguous question leaves the examining attorney uninformed and unable to ask any follow-up questions to elicit the necessary facts to intelligently reach a decision to exercise a peremptory challenge or to challenge a juror for cause." *Id.*

The Court in *Odom* and *Jones*, held that "[where] a prospective juror in a criminal case fails to respond to a relevant, direct, and unambiguous question presented by defense counsel on voir dire, although having knowledge of the information sought to be elicited, the trial court should, upon motion for a new trial, determine whether the question propounded to the juror was (1) relevant to the voir dire examination; (2) whether it was unambiguous; and (3) whether the juror had substantial knowledge of the information sought to be elicited." *Id*, emphasis added. "If the trial court's determination of these inquiries is in the affirmative, the court should then determine if prejudice to the defendant in selecting the jury reasonably could be inferred from the juror's failure to respond." *Id*. "If prejudice reasonably could be inferred, then a new trial should be

ordered." *Id.* "It is, of course, a judicial question as to whether a jury is fair and impartial and the court's judgment will not be disturbed unless it appears clearly that it is wrong. *Id.*

During voir dire by the State, the prosecutor asked the entire jury panel, do any of you know Mary Dubose? Three jurors answer and none of them were juror number eight, Thigpen. Tr. 23. In addition, during voir dire by the defense, when asked whether anyone knew Yolanda Streeter, Thigpen stated that her only knew of her and was classmates with Streeter's husband. Tr. 34-35.

The Appellant would assert that the questions posed to the petit jury regarding Mary Dubose and Yolander Streeter were relevant to the voir dire examination, that they were unambiguous, and that Thigpen had substantial knowledge of the information sought in the questions. The Appellant would further assert that he was prejudiced in selecting the jury as a result of Thigpen's failure to respond to these questions.

The Appellant, Robert Dubose, moves this Court to reverse and remand his conviction on back to the trial court for a new trial.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE RACE NEUTRAL REASONS GIVEN BY THE STATE AFTER A BATSON OBJECTION REGARDING SIX BLACK JURORS.

Dubose objected to the twelve (12) jurors that the prosecution tendered under *Batson. Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). Tr. 50. The State used all six (6) peremptory challenges on six (6) African American jurors. Tr. 50-57. Dubose objected because the pattern of exclusion was based on cognizable racial classification. *Id.* The

State claims that it offered race neutral reasons for its challenges and that the Appellant must show that the State used peremptory challenges on a person of race and that the circumstances give rise to an inference that the prosecutor used the peremptory changes in order to strike minorities. *Id.*

"In reviewing a claim for a *Batson* violation, the Mississippi Supreme Court 'will not overrule a trial court on a *Batson* ruling unless the record indicates that a ruling was clearly erroneous or against the weight of the evidence." *Flowers v. State*, 947 So.2d 910, 917 (Miss. 2007) (citing *Thorson v. State*, 721 So.2d 590, 593 (Miss. 1998)).

"In lodging a *Batson* claim, the party who objects to the peremptory strike 'must first make a prima facie showing that race was the criteria for the exercise of the peremptory strike." *Flowers*, 947 So.2d at 917 (citing *McFarland v. State*, 707 So.2d 166, 171 (Miss. 1997)). *See Batson*, 476 U.S. at 96-97. A defendant can establish a prima facie case of discrimination by showing:

(1) that he is a member of cognizable race group; (2) that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the defendant's race; (3) and the facts and circumstances raised an inference that the prosecutor used his peremptory challenges for the purpose of striking minorities.

Snow v. State, 800 So.2d 472, 478 (Miss. 2001). "Once a prima facie case has been established, the party exercising the challenge has the burden to articulate a race-neutral explanation for excluding that potential juror." Flowers, 947 So.2d at 917. See McFarland, 707 So.2d at 171. "As long as discriminatory intent is not inherent in the explanation given by the prosecution, 'the reason offered will be deemed race neutral."

Flowers, 947 So.2d at 917. (citing Randall v. State, 716 So.2d 584, 588 (Miss. 1998)). "After a race neutral explanation has been given, 'the trial court must determine whether the objecting party has met its burden to prove that there has been purposeful discrimination in the exercise of the peremptory," in other words, the reason givenwas a pretext for discrimination. Flowers, 947 So.2d at 917 (citing McFarland, 707 So.2d at 171).

The Mississippi Supreme Court identified five (5) indicia of pretext when examining race neutral explanations of a peremptory strike:

(1) disparate treatment, that is, the presence of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race who share the characteristic given as the basis for the challenge; (2) the failure to voir dire as to the characteristic cited; . . .(3) the characteristic cited is unrelated to the facts of the case; (4) lack of record support for the stated reason; and (5) group based traits.

Lynch v. State, 877 SO.2d 1254, 1272 (Miss. 2004). "The burden remains on the opponent of the strike to show that the race neutral explanation given is merely a pretext for racial discrimination." Flowers, 947 So.2d at 917. See Berry v. State, 802 So.2d 1033, 1042 (Miss. 2001).

During the jury selection in the case at bar, a prima facie case was established, as all six (6) of the State's possible six (6) strikes were against African American jurors.

After Dubose objected to the jurors that were struck, the trial court asked the State to present the race, gender, and reason for striking the juror. Tr. 50-51. The prosecution listed numerous reasons why each of the six (6) jurors were excluded:

THE COURT: Mr. King, give me race, gender, and reason for striking juror number 4, Johnny Pierce.

MR. KING: Johnny Pierce, black, male. Mr. Pierce was wanting off the panel, Your Honor. And he was not attentive when I was talking with him. And just - - when I was talking, he was looking the other way. Just his attitude and his inattentiveness, Your Honor.

.....

THE COURT: Well, the Supreme Court has said that inattentiveness is a legitimate reason. So I'll allow that strike. Number 9, Makita Jones, race, gender, and reason, please.

MR. KING: Makita Jones, number 9, black female

THE COURT: Why did you strike her

MR. KING: Because when asked a question about sexual allegations, I believe there has been sexual allegations on her husband. Since this question in my mind was not answered, that's the reason I am striking Makita Jones.

.....

THE COURT: Alright that is a race neutral reason. Gender neutral, as well. I'll allow that strike. Number 14, Robert Magee, race, gender, and reason for striking.

MR. KING: Race, black; gender, male. Mr. Magee when I was questioning showed more attentiveness to Mr. Neyland.

THE COURT: Showed more what?

MR. KING: Attention to Mr. Neyland. And besides that, the fact that he knew Yolanda and her husband, who is a defense witness.

THE COURT: Response?

......

THE COURT: All right. I'm going to allow that, but if I find out later that - well, it's not proper to accept a juror who know the same witness as a juror you reject, and that's the sole reason. Here Mr. King has assigned other reasons. So on the whole, I find that it's race gender neutral, and I'll allow the strike.

Number 17, Bobby Chapman, race, gender, and reason for strike. MR. KING: Boby Chapman, a black male. Mr. Chapman, there have been several arrests in Mr. Chapman's family, and law enforcement has had problems with his family. That's the reason that - - okay, several members of the Chapman family have been arrested by the Jasper County Sheriff's Department. And this juror is known by the Sheriff because of prior run-ins with the law in the Chaoman family is the reason that I strike him.

......

THE COURT: Well, my recollection of the case is the Supreme Court has said that arrests within the family of the prospective juror or race neutral reason, so I'm going to allow it. Number 21, Mack A. Holder, Jr. Race, Gender, reason.

MR. KING: Race, black; gender, male. The Holder family, there's been many arrests in the Holder family. The local law enforcement is aware of the Holder family and Mack Holder also. That the reason that we strike.

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