IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT DUBOSE

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-1170-COA

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

.

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: GLENN WATTS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

ISSUES ON APPEAL
STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
PROPOSITION I
THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL OR JNOV.
PROPOSITION II
THE RECORD REFLECTS RACE NEUTRAL REASONS WERE GIVEN FOR PEREMPTORY STRIKES BY BOTH PROSECUTION AND DEFENSE.
PROPOSITION III
THÈRE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF DUBOSE'S CONVICTIONS.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

.

. , ,

United States v.	Roan Eagle, 867 F.2d 436, 441 (8th Cir.1989)13	
United States v.	Garrison, 849 F.2d 103, 106 (4th Cir.1988)	

.

STATE CASES

Berry v. State, 802 So. 2d 1033, 1040 (Miss. 2001)
Burney v. State, 515 So.2d 1154, 1160 (Miss.1987)
Jackson v. State, 672 So.2d 468, 479 (Miss. 1996)
Odom v. State, 355 So. 2d 1381 (Miss. 1978)
Chambers v. State, 878 So.2d 153, 157 (Miss. App. 2004)
Doss v. State, 882 So.2d 176 (Miss. 2004)
Esparaza v. State, 595 So. 2d 418, 426 (Miss. 1992)
Fisher v. State, 481 So. 2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985)
Groseclose v. State, 440 So. 2d 297, 301 (Miss. 1983)
Hammond v. State, 465 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. 1985)
Hansen v. State, 592 So.2d 114 (Miss.1991)
Harveston v. State, 493 So. 2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986)
Jackson v. State, 580 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Miss. 1991)
Jackson v. State, 672 So.2d 468, 479 (Miss. 1996)
Jones v. State, 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994)

Lockett v. State, 517 So.2d 1346, 1356-57 (Miss.1987)
Manning v. State, 726 So.2d 1152, 1186 (Miss.1998), overruled on other grounds, Weatherspoon v. State, 732 So.2d 158 (Miss.1999)
McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993)
Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984)
Perry v. State, 949 So. 2d 764, 767 -768 (Miss. App. 2006)
Shannon v. State, 321 So. 2d 1 (Miss. 1975)
Spikes v. State, 302 So. 2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974)
Thorson v. State, 721 So.2d 590, 596 -597 (Miss.1998)
Walker v. State, 815 So.2d 1209, 1215(Miss. 2002)
Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 807-08 (Miss. 1987)

STATE STATUTES

۲

.

7 1

.

M. C. A. Sec. 9	7-5-23(1)	6
-----------------	-----------	---

STATE RULES

Miss. Unif. Crim. R. of Cir. Ct. Prac. 5.16	

.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT DUBOSE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VERSUS

2008-KA-1170-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

On February 5, 2008, Robert Dubose,"Dubose" was tried for three counts of sexual gratification by fondling, M. C. A. Sec. 97-5-23(1) and sexual battery before a Jasper County Circuit court jury, the Honorable Robert G. Evans presiding. C.P. 3-4; R. 1. Dubose was found guilty of three counts of gratification of lust. He was given three ten year sentences in the custody of the M. D. O.C.. C.P. 200.

After a hearing, Dubose's post trial motions for a new trial or J. N. O. V. were denied. C.P. 232.

Dubose through counsel perfected his appeal to the Mississippi Supreme court. C.P. 207.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. WAS A POST CONVICTION MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL FOR ALLEGED JUROR MISCONDUCT PROPERLY DENIED?

II. WERE RACE NEUTRAL REASONS GIVEN FOR PEREMPTORY STRIKES?

WAS THERE CREDIBLE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE JURY'S VERDICT?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 5, 2008, Dubose was tried for three counts of sexual gratification by fondling and sexual battery before a Jasper County Circuit court jury, the Honorable Robert G. Evans presiding. R. 1. Dubose was represented by Mr. Christopher Neyland. R. 1.

During voir dire, jurors were asked if they knew any of the attorneys, or proposed witnesses, which included Ms. Mary Dubose, the defendant's wife, and Ms. Yolanda Streeter R. 6-33 <u>Dubose</u> responded that he knew of or was acquainted with Streeter. R. 35. He knew her because she had married someone with whom he had attended school. He also indicated that knowing her would not influence his deliberations in this case. R. 36.

Mr. Dubose, being a black defendant, made a **Batson** challenge, and the prosecution made a **McCollum** challenge. R. 44-62. The record reflects that the prosecution used six peremptory strikes on black jurors, and the defense used six strikes on white jurors. R. 61.

The trial court asked for reasons for strikes which were provided by both the prosecution and the defense. R. 44-62. The trial court found that having members of a jurors' family investigated or charged for felonies was a race neutral reason. He found demeanor such as inattentiveness, and lack of eye contact as race neutral. He also accepted being acquainted with law enforcement for the defense, and being acquainted with Dubose from his being in someone's church as an organist race neutral. R. 44-62.

The record does not contain any formal statement or data about the race of the jurors that served on Dubose's jury to the best of the appellee's knowledge. C.P. 1-271.

÷

,

Officer Jimmy Reynolds testified that Dubose was born in May, 1959 which made him some 46 years old at the time of trial. R. 76.

1

ş

Ms. Lyrita Moffitt-Parker testified that she was employed by the Jasper County Department of Human Services. R. 79. She had received training and had experience in investigating child abuse charges. R. 80. She went to talk with Dubose's step children at their school. R. 81. After hearing of possible child abuse, she took them to a Child Advocacy's Center for an interview. They were also taken for an examination by a pediatrician, Dr. Patricia Tibbs, on April 5. R. 84.

Dr. Patricia Tibbs, a board certified pediatrician, testified that she interviewed Dubose's three step children. R. 95-117. They were Anthony, Chante, and Lakeisha Dubose. Dr. Tibbs testified that she took their medical history. All three children told her of being sexually abused by their step father. Dr. Tibbs testified that she examined the children and found physical evidence consistent with sexual abuse. R. 116.

Ms. Chante Dubose was eleven years old at trial, and in the fifth grade. She testified that she was adopted by Mary and Robert Dubose. R. 117. She testified that Dubose told her to come to his bed room. He told her to take off her underclothes. R. 121. Dubose pulled his pants down. R. 121. He put his hands on her "private part" and made her touch his exposed penis. She testified that he put his fingers on and inside her "private part."R. 120. She testified that Dubose told her he would "beat us to death if we tell." R. 123. Chante testified that she told her step mother about Dubose touching her. R. 134.

Ms. LaKeisha Dubose testified that she was ten years old at the time of trial. R. 136. LaKeisha testified that Dubose called her to his bed room. He touched her breast and her "private part." R. 139-140. He touched her private part with his fingers. R. 139-140. She also testified to seeing Dubose with her brother, Anthony. Dubose was on top of Anthony. R. 140-141.

Mr. Anthony Dubose, Robert Dubose, Jr., testified that he was eight years old at the time of trial. R. 150. Anthony testified that Dubose put his hand and his private part "in his butt." R. 153. Dubose kissed him, touched his private part and made he put my private part in his butt. R. 153.

The trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict. R. 161-167.

.

,

After being advised of his right to testify on his own behalf, Robert Dubose stated that he had decided, of his own volition, not to testify. R. 169-170.

However, his wife, Mary Dubose, testified on his behalf, denying that she had not heard any complaints of sexual abuse from the three adopted children living the home she shared with Dubose. R. 171-187.

Dubose was found guilty of three counts of gratification of lust and given three consecutive ten year sentences in the custody of the M.D.O.C.. C.P. 200.

Dubose filed motions for a New Trial and a J.N.O.V. C.P.180-183;195-197.

The motion for a new trial did not contain any affidavit from Mr. Streeter or anyone else knowledgeable about whether juror Thigpen's recognized his relationship with the ex- husband of Mary Dubose, Dubose's wife, prior to trial. R. 195-199.

The record includes notice of a hearing on these post conviction motions. C.P. 202. Juror number 8, Thigpen, and defense witness, Yolanda Streeter were subpoenaed to testify at that hearing. C.P. 205-206. After apparently hearing their testimony, the trial court denied relief. C.P. 232.

Dubose through counsel perfected his appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 207.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

+

3

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED POST CONVICTION MOTIONS.

The record reflects that the trial court correctly denied a motion for a J.N.O.V. and a New Trial. C.P. 232. This was the first time issues related to juror number 8, Mr. Michael Thigpen, were raised with the trial court. C.P. 195-197. The record reflects that Thigpen stated that he could be fair and impartial in following the law as applied through jury instructions in this case. R. 6-33; 44-62.

There is a lack of evidence that Thigpen was asked an unambiguous question about which he had substantial knowledge. There is a lack of evidence that he recognized Mary Dubose, or remembered that he was possibly related to her ex-husband. Nor was there evidence that Thigpen's lack of a response to voir dire questions interfered with Dubose receiving a fair trial. **Doss v. State** 882 So.2d 176, 182 -183 (¶10) (Miss. 2004).

II.

THE PROSECUTION PROVIDED RACE NEUTRAL REASONS.

The record reflects that the trial court accepted as "race neutral" the reasons provided for peremptory strikes by both the prosecution, and the defense. R. 44-62. In addition, the Mississippi Supreme Court has accepted demeanor, such as inattentiveness, as well as having family members of a juror charged or convicted of a crime as possible race neutral reasons for a peremptory strike. **Perry v. State** 949 So. 2d 764, 767 -768 (Miss. App. 2006).

While the defense did disagree with strikes by the prosecution on some grounds, the prosecution provided multiple grounds for some of its strikes. The trial court also accepted as race neutral being acquainted with law enforcement officers which was offered by the defense. In

addition, the record does not contain any data on the racial composition of the jury to the best of the appellee's knowledge. C.P. 1-272. Jackson v. State, 672 So.2d 468, 479 (Miss. 1996).

ŧ.

ı.

III.

THERE WAS CREDIBLE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF DUBOSE'S CONVICTIONS.

There was credible, substantial partially corroborated evidence in support of the trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial. **McClain v. State**, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). Anthony, Chante, and Lakeisha Dubose identified Dubose as the person who had touched and rubbed their genitals for his lustful purposes. R. 120-122; 140-141; 150-152.

There was record evidence in support of finding that they were under the age of sixteen and Dubose was over the age of eighteen. M. C. A. Sect. 97-5-23(1). R. 76;103. Dr. Tibbs found from her examination of the children that there was physical evidence that was consistent with child sexual abuse. R. 116.

The record reflects that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion for a new trial. Jones v. State, 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994).

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL OR JNOV.

Dubose's counsel argues that the trial court erred in denying him a new trial. He thinks that juror 8, Mr. Michael Thigpen, did not answer relevant questions during voir dire about his relationship with the defendant's wife. He believes that juror Michael Thigpen's failure to disclose during voir dire that he was related to the ex-husband of Dubose's wife, Mary Dubose, denied him a fair trial. Appellant's brief page 7-10.

۱

,

To the contrary, the record reflects that Thigpen was not questioned during voir dire about his relationship with Mary Dubose's ex-husband, or any other extended family relationship with any proposed witnesses prior to trial. R. 6-33.

In addition, the record reflects that Thigpen responded to "recognizing" Ms. Yolanda Streeter who was a proposed defense witness. R. 35. The record also reflects that Thigpen indicated that he could be fair and impartial, and that he had no preconceived notions about the charges against Dubose in the instant cause.

The record reflects that both Streeter and juror Thigpen were subpoenaed to testify at the hearing on Dubose's motion for a new trial. C.P. 205-206. The record reflects that a hearing was held on these post trial motions. The trial court denied relief, finding that Dubose had not met his burden of proof in support of his charge of juror misconduct. C. P. 232.

Therefore, the appellee would submit that the record reflects that Dubose failed to provide any specific factual support for his motion about alleged juror misconduct. There is no factual basis for the motion other than what was or was not heard by the trial court at the hearing on the motion. Otherwise, factual claims about who specifically knew what about juror Thigpen's family relationships was merely hearsay.

In addition, during voir dire, Mr. Michael Thigpen, juror number 8, advised the trial court that he recognized Ms. Yolanda Streeter, who would be a defense witness. He indicated that he did not know her personally, but knew "of her." He knew of her since she had married someone with whom he had once attended school.

Q. Does the fact that you recognize her, does that influence you one way or the other?

A. (Indiscernible).

Q. Number 8?

r

A. Her husband is my classmate.

Q. Her husband is your classmate? Okay. Does that fact influence you one way or another? Do you know her personally, or do you just know her husband as your classmate?

A. I know of her. I don't know her personally. R. 35.

The record reflects that Thigpen was questioned by the trial court, and the defense as to

whether he believed that he could be fair and impartial. The trial court asked the voir dire if the

proposed jurors could decide the case to be presented solely upon the testimony they would hear and

the exhibits that would be submitted for their review.

Q...Now, I told you that in order to ask you this: Can each of you decide this case based on those two things and those two things alone? (Oral testimony and exhibits, the law which will be read to you at conclusion of oral argument)

A. (No verbal response.)

Q. Is there anyone who cannot do so?

A. (No verbal response.) R. 19.

In Doss v. State 882 So.2d 176, 182 -183 (¶10) (Miss. 2004), the Supreme Court found a

lack of evidence that the juror was asked an unambiguous relevant question during voir dire.

¶ 10. The **Odom** test provides that the trial court should, on a motion for new trial, determine whether the question propounded to the juror was relevant, unambiguous and whether the juror had substantial knowledge of the information sought to be elicited. The court then determines whether prejudice can be inferred from the juror's failure to respond. The record shows that the second requirement, that of the questions being unambiguous, was not met in Doss's trial. The judge may have been only interested in jurors who had contact with D.A. Evans in his official capacity, or he may also have been trying to elicit information about contacts that jurors may have had in other aspects of Evans's legal practice. It is impossible to tell, from the circuit court's questions, or from the judge's failure to clarify the matter, as

he had done earlier in the Bell trial. Since all the relevant questions from the **Odom** test cannot be answered in the affirmative, we do not reach the question of whether prejudice to the defendant can reasonably be inferred. "If prejudice reasonably could be inferred, then a new trial should have been ordered. It is, of course, a judicial question as to whether a jury is fair and impartial, and the court's judgment will not be disturbed unless it appears that it is clearly wrong." **Odom**, 355 So.2d at 1383. This issue is without merit.

The appellee would submit that Dubose, as found by the trial court, did not meet his burden

of proof for showing any unambiguous question, or substantial knowledge much less any prejudice

to his defense based upon voir dire. C.P. 232. Odom v. State, 355 So. 2d 1381 (Miss. 1978).

This issue is lacking in merit.

.

PROPOSITION II

THE RECORD REFLECTS RACE NEUTRAL REASONS WERE GIVEN FOR PEREMPTORY STRIKES BY BOTH PROSECUTION AND DEFENSE.

Dubose argues that the trial court erred in accepting the prosecution's alleged race neutral reasons for peremptory strikes of black jurors. Dubose believes that the prosecution used all six strikes on black jurors, and that striking jurors because they supposedly had family members with possible criminal charges was pre-textual and discriminatory. The trial court by accepting these reasons as grounds for strikes denied him the possibility of a fair trial.

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